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THE ARUN NAVIGATION AND 
HARDHAM CANAL TUNNEL 

A Successful Eighteenth Century 
Enterprise 

P. A. L. Vine 

The River Arun has for centuries been the most 

important of the Sussex waterways. There seems 

little doubt that the river was partly navigable at the 

time of the Norman Conquest. While authorities are 

at variance upon whether Arundel boasted any river 

traffic before this date, the town is referred to as a 

×ÖÙÛɯ ÐÕɯ #ÖÔÌÚËÈàɯ !ÖÖÒɯ ÛÐÔÌɯ ȹȿ×ÖÙÛÜÔɯ ÈØÜÈÌɯ ÌÛɯ

ÊÖÕÚÜÌÛÜËÐÕÌÔɯÕÈÝÐÜÔɀȺȭɯ(ÛɯÐÚɯÙÌ×ÖÙÛÌËɯÉàɯÝÈÙÐÖÜÚɯ

chroniclers that in about 1070, Roger de 

Montgomery, a Norman nobleman, created Earl of 

Arundel by William I for his help at Hastings, 

imported small square blocks of Caen stone from 

Normandy for refacing the castle keep. Hadrian 

Allcroft presents a strong case for accepting Ford as 

the then port of Arundel, since the tide probably 

flowed no higher than this point before 1300 and the 

crossing-point would have hindered the passage of 

boats which were heavily laden. Furthermore, the 

river would at that time have flowed an 

inconvenient half a mile east of where Arundel 

Bridge now stands.1 

Arundel grew in importance. In 1295 two Members 

were returned to Westminster. By the turn of the 

fourteenth century its markets and fairs were firmly 

established and on the hillside between castle and 

marsh 94 houses and 32 stalls were clustered 

together. Not, however, until the latter half of the 

sixteenth century were serious attempts made to 

improve the navigation of the river. In 1544 Henry 

Fitzalan had succeeded to the earldom at the age of 

31 and it was he who, in the course of the next 30 

years, set out to make the town a port for sea-going 

vessels and to reduce the widespread flooding.  

This work must have been a gigantic operation at 

the time, but it was surprisingly successful. The 

channel to the sea was cleared and widened and the 

river embanked as far up as North Stoke before the 

end of Henry VIII's reign (1547). The course of the 

Arun at Arundel was altered so that the river flowed 

to the edge of the town and by 1550 timber was 

being exported from the newly -built wharves. 

During the early part of Queen Elizabeth 1's reign, 

the work of making a new entrance - the narrow one 

shown on Palmer's map - to the river at 

Littlehampton was completed. The task of 

improving the upper reaches was then begun.  

3ÏÌɯÞÈÛÌÙɯÉÈÐÓÐÍÍɀÚɯÉÖÖÒɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯ1ÐÝÌÙɯ ÙÜÕɯÐÚɯÛÏÌɯÖÕÓàɯ

extant source of information regarding the early 

navigation of the Arun. 2  Anciently, wrote the 

bailiff,* the navigation began at a place in the river 

called 'Turning -stream', just below Stopham Bridge 

where the Arun and Rother rivers joined, but that 

nowadays (1637) it started at Pallingham Quay, the 

river being cleared about the beginning of Queen 

Elizabeth's reign (1558) by Fitzalan for moving 

timber down from Pallingham by barge. The river at 

that time was only tidal as far as Houghton. Boat 

traffic beyond that point was hampered by as many 

as 29 'weares'; many of these were decayed, and 

were only passable between sunrise and sunset. It 

was the water bailiff's responsibility to ensure that 

during daylight these penstocks or gates were kept 

open by the fishermen.  

Daniel Defoe on his Tour through Great Britain 

mentioned in 1722 that Arundel was a town 

'decayed' but that great quantities of large timber 

were shipped from the town to the shipyards along 

the Thames and up the Medway since it was 

esteemed the best from any part of England. 

Although the opening of the new harbour at 

Littlehampton in 1736 caused further consideration 

of plans to improve the river navigation, it was not 

until the 1780s that the local landowners 

commissioned James Edwards to survey the Arun 

up to Newbridge, Wisborough Green. Consequently 

Henry Digance of Arundel and others presented a 

petition to the House of Lords for a parliamentary 

bill to improve the river on the grounds that it was 

much obstructed by shoals which made it 

'inconvenient' for the carriage of merchandize. 3 

Leave was granted to bring in a bill to improve the 

navigation above Houghton and to authorize the 

construction of two canals between Coldwaltham 

and Hardham, and between Jupp's Mead by 

Pallingham wharf and Newbridge. However, the 

inhabitants of Pulborough and adjacent parishes 

protested against the proposed toll to be levied on 

goods passing between Houghton Bridge and 

Pallingham since no toll was then payable and 

'repeated declarations had been made that none was 

intended to be imposed'.  

* Probably William Barttelot (1592 -1667) who lived at the 

Manor House in Stopham 
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The petitioners won their main point and although 

the Arun Navigation Act, passed in May 1785, 

authorized the improvement of the tide -way above 

Houghton Bridge, it specified that the navigation of 

the river between Houghton and Pallingham was to 

ÙÌÔÈÐÕɯÍÙÌÌɯÖÍɯÛÖÓÓɯɁÌÝÌÕɯÐÍɯÓÖÊÒÚɯÏÈÝÌɯÛÖɯÉÌȮɯÐÕɯÛÐÔÌȮɯ

ÌÙÌÊÛÌËɯÉÌÛÞÌÌÕɯ'ÖÜÎÏÛÖÕɯÈÕËɯ&ÙÌÈÛÏÈÔɯ!ÙÐËÎÌɂȭɯ

The tolls to be charged between Pallingham and 

Houghton fell into two classes. All goods, including 

coal, corn, timber and general merchandize, were to 

be charged 9d a ton, but firewood, chalk and dung 

only 6d a ton. From Pallingham to Newbridge this 

was to be 2s 3d a ton, except for firewood 1s a ton 

and chalk 6d a ton. Unusually the Act set out the 

maximum carriage charges that could be levied by 

the carriers to prevent impositions. Bargemen 

charging more could be brought before a magistrate 

and fined up to £5. 

James Edwards began work on the Arun Canal in 

August 1785 by which time £7,000 of the £10,000 

authorized capital had been subscribed.4 Two years 

later the upper navigation was completed but in the 

autumn construction of the tunnel section had to be 

temporarily suspended until a mortgage on the tolls 

could be raised.  

On reflection it would seem to have been an 

extravagant proposition to build a tunnel when a 

deep cutting could have sufficed. The Act makes no 

mention of a tunnel, only the cut and its attendant 

bridge. It seems probable that initially only a cutting 

was envisaged to link Greatham with Hardham, and 

Fig. 1  Plan of the Coldwaltham Cut and the River Arun, 1791 
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it was only decided to build the tunnel because the 

adjacent landowners would not agree. Not only 

would the excavations have been considerable, but a 

bridge would have been needed to carry the 

Pulborough to Coldwaltham Road. It was probably 

only as a last resort that the company, rather than 

abandon their plans, decided to go ahead with the 

tunnel whose expense was seemingly 

disproportionate to the estimated total cost of the 

lower navigation.  

Prior to the opening of the navigation through 

Hardham Hill in 1790, the public were advised that a 

twice-weekly goods service between London and 

Arundel by way of Newbridge would commence in 

June. Heavy goods were to be charged 2s 3d a cwt, 

light goods and liquors 2s 6d.5  More attractive barge 

rates included reductions if the company's wharves*  

were used and free passage granted through the 

tunnel if a ticket was obtained from the first 

lockkeeper encountered. Barge owners were to be 

allowed to pay their dues quarterly. Ten tons or 

more of sea gravel which had to be taken from 

below the West Pier at Littlehampton was to pay 

only one shilling toll if the materials were to be used 

to repair the public roads leading to Newbridge 

wharf. 6 

The official opening of the Lower Arun Navigation 

was celebrated in grand style. It took place on 

Saturday 14 August 1790. The Sussex Weekly 

Advertiser heralded the occasion by recording how 

the proprietors embarked on their gaily -decorated 

barge at Walthamɓ lock in the presence of hundreds 

of spectators. Attended by a band they proceeded 

through the tunnel to Stopham Wharf. Here a "cold 

collation and plenty of wine were provided while 

the workmen emptied two or three hogsheads of 

strong beer given to them by their masters."  

An onlooker reported that  

"The opening and passing through the Tunnel, at 

Hardham Hill, was a novel, and interesting sight to 

me. The day was remarkably fine. About one o'clock 

the first barge gave the signal for starting by a 

discharge of cannon mounted· thereon; the barge, was 

followed by two more, very much crowded with 

company, both of ladies and gentlemen." 

In the first of these, was a band of music; at the 

entrance the first barge again fired her guns, and then 

the procession proceeded through the subterraneous 

passage; the gloomyness of the scene, and the faint 

sound of the music, were altogether charming; at 

coming out of the tunnel, the guns again saluted, the 

colours were again hoisted, and the barges and 

company, passed through the locks, and so to 

Stopham."  

"Here, booths were pleasantly placed, wherein the 

company dined; after which contest between some 

barges took place which included a guinea being 

awarded to the barge loaded with 30 tons of chalk 

which passed through the tunnel in the shortest time. 

Much jollity and humour, mark'd the evening, and the 

welkin resounded with the cheers of the multitude and 

the noise of the cannon."  

There is one item in the detail of the proceedings 

which is puzzling. The account states that after 

giving the tunnel's length as about 440 yards, 

reference is made to 'a small opening to the surface 

of the hill about three parts of the way through'. 

According to the 1876 Ordnance Survey the correct 

length is 375 yards. It is possible an earlier collapse 

of the entrance at the southern end required it to be 

opened up and thus shortened by 60 yards or so, but 

there is no reference to such an occurrence in the 

company's minutes.7 

The celebrations were no sooner over than 

difficulties arose. The Lewes Record reported that 

some of the Arun proprietors were attempting to 

reduce the bargemen's wages on the grounds that 

now 'their work is more certain and easy, and 

therefore cheaper'.8 This the workmen strongly 

refuted. They were vexed. Going through the tunnel 

was, they said, no easement to them. Young 

Andrews even wagered a guinea that he could 

round the old river sooner than an equally loaded 

barge via the tunnel. The bargees referred to the late 

rejoicings at the tunnel's opening as 'Belshazzar's 

Feast' and wrote in large letters on a board on 

Stopham Wharf "Mene, mene, tekel upharsin".9 It 

was even suggested that the miller at Fittleworth 

was prepared to shut up his sluices and, by 

suddenly opening them, ruin the works. The rift 

blew over and in October four proprietors (William 

Tate, the Digances and Richard Smart) announced 

"in consequence of the great advantage and 

convenience obtained by navigating goods through 

Hardham Tunnel", barges carrying 30 tons would 

not in future be charged more than 2s 6d per load 

from Newbridge to Littlehampton. 10 

By 1791 water communication was open from the 

sea to Arundel for vessels up to 200 tons and for 

barges as far as Newbridge. However, the river 
* Watersfield, Stopham and Pallingham 

ɓɯ%ÖÙÔÌÙɯÕÈÔÌɯÖÍɯ"ÖÓËÞÈÓÛÏÈÔ 



 

 

Sussex Industrial History No. 41  Å  2011 

5  

Fig. 2  The entrance to the Coldwaltham Cut from the River 

Arun, 1951. 

Fig. 3  The entrance to Coldwaltham Lock, 1941. The ruins of 

the lock-house remained visible until the 1950s. The cut was 

enfilled by the river authority in the 1970s.  

%ÐÎȭɯƘɯɯ ÙÛÐÚÛɀÚɯËÙÈÞÐÕÎɯÖÍɯÛÏÌɯÚÖÜÛÏÌÙÕɯÌÕÛÙÈÕÊÌɯÛÖɯÛÏÌɯ

tunnel, 1868. Tunnel lock can be seen at the far end of the 

tunnel.  

Fig. 5  The South Entrance to the 

tunnel as it appeared in 1949. 

Fig. 6  The North Entrance and Tunnel Lock from a 

drawing by Thomas Evershed, 1843. Observe the  tree 

trunks used as crude beams for the lock gates. 

Fig. 7  The remains of the upper  gate of Tunnel Lock, 1951 

Fig. 8  The North Entrance, 1952.  The concrete dam was 

newly erected on the site of Tunnel Lock. 
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%ÐÎȭɯƝɯɯ.ÙËÕÈÕÊÌɯ2ÜÙÝÌàɯƖƙɂɯÔÈ×ȮɯƕƜƛƚɯÌËÐÛÐÖÕȮɯÚÏÖÞÐÕÎɯ'ÈÙËÏÈÔɯ3ÜÕÕÌÓɯȹÕÖÛɯÙÌ×ÙÖËÜÊÌËɯÛÖɯÚÊÈÓÌȺȭ 

The underpass for barge horses passed beneath the Petworth railway line opened in 1859. (Courtesy West Sussex Record Office) 
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between Arundel and Pallingham, a distance of 18¼ 

miles, remained a public navigation free of toll. 

There was no tow-path; barges either sailed or were 

punted up and down the river with the tide. The 

journey from Littlehampton to Newbridge took 

about two and a half days, although six hours were 

saved if Hardham Tunnel was used. Most of the 

barges were sprit sailed and could carry in excess of 

30 tons, although the loads were related more to 

draught than to capacity, being dependent on the 

rain rather than the tide on the upper reaches of the 

river.  

Not surprisingly, the Arun proprietors made no 

effort to maintain the river above Greatham, and it 

was this failure that prompted the merchants and 

inhabitants of Pulborough to petition the House of 

Commons in 1791 ''to acquaint the Honourable 

House that the river is now in a worse state for the 

purpose of navigation than at the time the Act was 

obtained (1785) and unless provision be made for the 

speedy and effectual carrying into execution the 

purposes intended by the said Act, your petitioners 

and many persons residing nearby must be very 

great sufferers and their trade materially injured."  It 

was this fact that had persuaded Lord Egremont to 

consider initially including the River Arun between 

Greatham and Stopham in his bill for the Rother 

Navigation and the reason for William Jessop's 

survey in 1789. 11 

The passing of the Rother Navigation Act of 1791 

brought little satisfaction to the proprietors of the 

Arun Navigation. Although they anticipated that 

some revenue would accrue from Rother barges 

using the Coldwaltham Cut, it was unlikely to be 

sufficient to defray the expense of the Arun's 

statuary duty to maintain the tideway.  

Until the opening of the Wey & Arun Junction Canal 

most of the Rother's traffic originated from, or was 

destined to, the Arun Navigation. Thus the Rother's 

dependence on the smooth running of the Arun was 

as much its concern as it was that of the Arun 

proprietors who, one would have hoped, would 

have been in agreement with the plans and projects 

of Lord Egremont. Unfortunately this was not the 

case.  

In the first place the Arun proprietors were 

primarily local merchants investing in what they 

hoped would become a prosperous enterprise, 

whereas the Earl was more concerned with the 

public good and the improvement of his estates. 

Secondly, the company was in serious financial 

difficulty since the cost of building the navigation 

had greatly exceeded the estimate. Only £7,000 of 

the authorised share capital of £10,000 had been 

raised and some £9,000 had had to be borrowed on 

mortgage of the tolls to complete the navigation. 12 

Thirdly, the estimated carriage of 30,000 tons a year 

had yet to materialise. Traffic during the first twelve 

months of full operation only amounted to 14,000 

tons, which yielded an annual income barely 

sufficient to meet the running expenses and to pay 

the interest on the loans. The Arun Navigation 

company's proposals to further extend their 

navigation without advising Lord Egremont 

indicates that the relationship between the company 

and the peer was not the best.  

Early in 1792, concern was expressed by Lord 

Egremont's advisers at talk of the Arun proprietors 

petitioning Parliament for a further Act. At their 

meeting the previous December, the latter had in 

fact agreed to apply for a bill to build a branch canal 

from above Orfold Lock on the Arun Canal. Henry 

Tripp, Lord Egremont's London attorney, wrote to 

his brother James Upton Tripp, who was the Sussex 

agent, on 31 January 1792, to say that he would try 

and obtain any facts or knowledge of the intentions 

of the Arun proprietors. The Arun's clerk, William 

Carleton, wrote on the day their petition was 

Fig. 10  Deteriorating façade of the northern 

entrance, 1952. 
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presented to the House of Commons to say that 

ÛÏÌɯ ÙÜÕɯ×ÙÖ×ÙÐÌÛÖÙÚɯËÐËɯÕÖÛɯɁÔÌÈÕɯÐÕɯÈÕàɯÞÈàɯ

ÛÖɯÐÕÛÌÙÍÌÙÌɯÞÐÛÏɯ+ÖÙËɯ$ÎÙÌÔÖÕÛɅÚɯÕÈÝÐÎÈÛÐÖÕɂɯ

and that the present application was to extend 

their navigation to Kirdford.  

Even so, Henry advised his brother that great 

care and circumspection were necessary on the 

part of his lordship during the progress of this 

ÉÐÓÓɯÛÏÙÖÜÎÏɯÛÏÌɯÛÞÖɯ'ÖÜÚÌÚȯɯɂ(ɯÛÏÐÕÒɯÞÌɯÒÕÖÞɯ

enough of the Arun proprietors to be assured 

ÛÏÈÛɯÛÏÌàɯÔÈàɯÚÈàɯÖÕÌɯÛÏÐÕÎɯÈÕËɯÔÌÈÕɯÈÕÖÛÏÌÙȭɂ 

Henry Tripp was soon proved right. The Arun 

proprietors not only petitioned the House of 

Commons on 28 February 1792 for an Act to 

extend their navigation, but they had also 

included in the petition a request for powers to 

continue the cutting from Hardham Tunnel to 

the Rother Navigation above Stopham Lock.  

The reason why the Arun proprietors had had 

to resort to this ruse was the simple fact that 

they were heavily in debt and were losing 

money because the bargemasters were 

unwilling to pay to use the tunnel, when for the 

sake of an extra six hours they could, if they had a 

light load, use the old river by Pulborough toll free - 

a stretch of navigation which, under the terms of 

their Act, the Arun proprietors had to maintain at 

their expense and which, by doing so, robbed them 

of their income - or so they claimed. Inducements 

introduced in 1789 to encourage traders to use the 

tunnel by offering toll -free passage if their barges 

used the company's wharves, had met with a limited 

response.  

The Arun proprietors proposed to continue the 

Coldwaltham Cut beyond Hardham Tunnel to join 

the Rother Navigation above Stopham Lock. 

However, what seemed a time-saving proposal to 

save boats bound to Midhurst from locking up and 

down, was really a device to encourage greater use 

of the tunnel and to make it less attractive for the 

Rother barges to avoid paying toll by using the river. 

The treasurer was authorised to borrow £2,500 for 

these works at the committee meeting held on 28 

February 1792. At their quarterly meeting in March, 

it was reported that they had 

already spent more than £16,000 

and that they considered his 

lordship's navigation as a rival 

interest to theirs and as the principal 

cause of their present failure.13 

It is extraordinary that the Arun 

p r o p r i e t o r s ,  w i t h o u t  a n y 

consultation with Lord Egremont, 

should have included in their 

petition powers to make a collateral 

cut which would clearly affect Lord 

Egremont's navigation. Not only 

was he not consulted, but he was 

deliberately misinformed that their 

petition only sought powers for the 

Kirdford Canal. One can only 

%ÐÎȭɯƕƕɯɯ3ÏÌɯÌÕÛÙÈÕÊÌɯÛÖɯ'ÈÙËÏÈÔɯȹ-ÌÐÓɀÚȺɯ+ÖÊÒȮɯƕƜƜƝ 

Fig. 12  Hardham Lock cottage, 1955.  It was demolished in 1957. 


